PEARL HARBOR

after a

Quarter of a Century

by HARRY ELMER BARNES

[. THE LESSONS OF PEARL HARBOR MORE RELEVANT
THAN EVER BEFORE

The surprise Japanese attack at Pearl Harbor on Decem~
ber 7, 1941, 18 regarded by most persons who recall it at
all as anisolated dramatic episode, now consigned to political
and military archeology. Quite to the contrary, on account of
our entry inte the war, it became one of the most decisive
battles 1n the history of the human race, It has already
proved far more so than any of the “fifieen decisive battles”
immortalized by Sir Edward Creasy.

The complex and cumulative aftermath of Pearl Harbor
has played the dominant role in producing the menacing
military pattern and political impasse of our time, and the
military=-industrial=political Establishment that controls



this country and has sought to determine world policy. It
created the four most likely focal points for the outbreak of
a thermonuclear war which may lead to the extermination
of the human race--Berlin, Formosa, Southeast Asia and
the Middle East--unless future sudden flare-ups like that
in Cuba in 1962 may turn the lethal trick, Hence, while
Creasy’s battles may have decided the fate of important
political entities and alignments in the past, Pearl Harbor
may well have deeply affected thefate of mankind. American
entry into the war produced atomic and nuclear warfare as
well as Russian domination of Central Europe and the
triumph of Communist China in Asia,

Moreover, a detailed study of how Pearl Harbor came
about provides ominous lessons as to the uncertainties of
human judgment and the eccentricities in personal conduct
that control the outbreak of wars, an ever more crucial
consideration in determining the destinies of the human
race as we move on in the nuclear era. The damage done
to our Pacific Fleet, although its significance was exag-
gerated at the time, was impressive and devastating. But
it was a trivial matter compared to the fact that the Japa-
nese attack put the United States actively into the second
World War, The personal and political ambitions, pro-
fessional stereotypes, public deceit and mendacity (the
credibility gap), ruts and grooves of thinking and action,
and the martial passions that brought on Pearl Harbor
would, if repeated in such a crisis as that raised by the
Cuban incident of 1962, or a future one in Berlin, Formosa,
Vietnam, or the Middle East might very well destroy
civilization.

As the military episode that brought the United States into
the second World War, the results of Pearl Harhor already
indicate that this produced drastic and possibly ominous
changes in the pattern of American relations to the rest
of the world, We voluntarily and arbitrarily assumed
unprecedented burdens in feeding and financing a world
badly disrupted by war, The international policy of George
Washington and the “fathers™ of the United States, based
on non=-intervention but not embracing isolation, was ter-
minated for any predictable period.

President Truman continued the doctrine of the inter-
ventionist liberals of the latter part of the 1930’s, to the
effect that the United States must be prepared to do battle
with foreign countries whose basgic ideology does not
conform with that of the United States. He further elected
to create and perpetuate a cold war until actual hot warfare
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breaks out, as it did in Korea in 1950 and in southeast Asja
a decade later, The United States sought to police the world
and extend the rule of law on a planetary basis, which
actually meam imposing the ideology of our eastern sea-
board Establishment throughout the world, by force, if
necessary, as in Vietnam. By the twenty-fifth anniversary
of Pearl Harbor, the United States was being informed by
both official policy and influential editorials that we must
get adjusted to the fact that we face permanent war, an
especially alarming outlook in a nuclear era in which the
two major powers are already amply prepared to “overkill”
their enemies, “Perpetual war for perpetual peace” has
become the American formula in relation to world affairs.

Drastic changes in the domestic reaim can also be attri-
buted to the impact of our entry into the second World War,
The old rural society that had dominated humanity for
millennia was already disintegrating rapidly as the result
of urbanization and technological advances, but the latter
failed to supply adequate new institutions and agencies to
control and direct an urban civilization. This situation
faced the American public before 1941 but the momentous
transformation was given intensified rapidity and scope as
a result of the extensive dislocations produced by years of
warfare and recovery. These gave rise to increasing eco-
nomic problems, temporarily fended off by a military-
industrial-political complex that provided no permanent
solution. The social problems of an urban age were
enlarged and intensified, crime increased and took on new
forms that became ever more difficult to combat, juvenile
disorganization became rampant, racial problems increased
beyond precedent, and the difficulties of dealing with this
unprecedented and complicated mass of domestic issues
were both parried and intensified by giving primary but
evagive consideration to foreign affairs in our national
policy and operations. Hence, a discussion of the lessons
of Pearl Harbor for today treveals a situation which is
more than a matter of idle curiosity for military anti~
guarians,

Moreover, as will be pointed out during our treatment of
the Pearl Harbor problem, we had by 1941 entered into a
system of diplomatic secrecy and international intrigue
and deception which had already committed this country
to world war several days before the Japanese struck Pearl
Harbor, and without the slightest knowledge of this on the
part of the American public. The implicarions of such a
contingency in a nuclear age are as obvious as they are
astounding and ominous.
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Despite rthe crucial importance of the Pearl Harbor
story for American citizens, it is certainly true chat,
although the twenty-seventh anniversary of the surprise
Japanese attack has now arrived, only a small fraction of
the American people are any better acquainted with the
realities of the responsibility for the attack than they were
when President Roosevelt delivered his “Day of Infamy”
oration on December 8, 1941, The legends and rhetoric
of that day still dominate the American mind.

Interestingly enough, the American people narrowly missed
having an opportunity to learn the essential truths about
Pearl Harbor in a sensational and fully publicized manner
less than three years after the event, As a result of
research by his staff, and possibly some “leaks™ from
Intelligence officers of 1941, Thomas E. Dewey, the Repub-
lican candidate for the presidency, had learned during the
campaign of 1944 that President Roosevelt had been reading
the intercepted Japanese diplomatic messages in the Purple
and other codes and was aware of the threat of a Japanese
attack on Pearl Harbor at any time after November 26,
1941, but had failed to warn the commanders there, General
Walter C. Short and Admiral Husband E. Kimmel, in time
to avert the attack or to meer it effectively, Dewey con-
sidered presenting these vital facts in a major campaign
speech.

Roosevelt learned of this through the Democratic grape-
vine planted at Republican headquarters and, in under-
standable alarm, pressured Mr. Dewey through General
George C. Marshall to abandon his plan, on the ground that
it would endanger the war effort by revealing that we had
broken Japanese codes, Marshall twice sent Colonel Carter
W, Clarke to urge Dewey not to refer to Pear! Harbhor
during the campaign. To cover up for Roosevelt, Marshall
has contended that he operated on his own initiative in
sending Clarke to importune Dewey. As Clarke knew by
this time, the basis of his plea was spurious, namely, that
such a speech by Dewey would first reveal to the Japanese
that we had broken their Purple diplomatic code, Actually,
the Japanese had learned of this from the Germans by the
end of April, 1941, over three years before the 1944
campaign. Dewey did not know this at the time and, as a
supposedly patriotic duty, he suppressed the speech and
the publicity which might have won the election for him.

In a column written for the King Features Syndicate and

widely published on the eve of the 1964 election, the famed
journalist, John Chamberlain, described Dewey’s lugu-
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brious retrospective observations on his deception by
Roosevelt and Marshall in 1944:

Nixon’s 1960 agony recalls that of Thomas Dewey
in 1944, when the Republicans knew practically all
the details about the surprise at Pearl Harbor yet
were loath to put the issue into the campaign lest
they reveal to the Japanese that the United States
had broken a critical code.

This columnist vividly recalls riding in a car from
Elmira to Geneva, New York, in August of 1945 with
Dewey and listening to his rueful account of the deci-
sion to say nothing about Pearl Harbor. The worst
of it, from Dewey’s standpoint, is that he had a sus-
picion that the Japanese had changed their codes
long before 1944, which would have made campaign
revelations about Pearl Harbor harmless to the U. S,
from a military standpoint.

When I talked to Tom Dewey in 1945, he thought he
might have been cheated out of a winning issue in 1944,

Chamberlain made similar revelations in an article in
Life while the Congressional Pear]l Harbor investigation
was still in progress, yet Mr. Dewey was never called to
testify. John T, Flynn gave me much more detail about
Pearl Harbor and the Dewey campaign by personal cor-
respondence and conversation in the autumn and early
winter of 1944, Flynn had been active at Republican head-
quarters during the campaign,

My suggestion o Mr. Dewey in 1966 that he publicize
the facts of the 1944 situation in connection with the
twenty~fifth anniversary of Pearl Harbor proved fruitless,
This is entirely understandable. In 1966, Mr, Dewey was
not a candidate for the presidency. He was the responsible
head of a great legal firm, and publicity so damaging to
Roosevelt’s public reputation might have alienated impor-
fant clients not only among Democrats but also Republicans
who were interventionisi-minded relative to World War I,
It might, however, also have done moretogive the American
public some idea of the realities of Pearl Harbor than the
combined writings of revisionist historians in a whole
generation since 1644,

An intriguing and not fully resolved point stems from the
fact that the Japanese learned from the Germans at the end
of April, 1941, that the United States had broken their
Purple code in which they sent top secret diplomatic mes-
sages. Why, then, did they continue to use the code? Some
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authorities believe that, despite the reliability of their
informants, the top level Japanese officials could not bring
themselves to believe that their code had actually been
cracked, and that this vanity was abetted by the officials
who had been responsible and wished to cover up the leak,
Other authorities assert that the Japanese went ahead with
the Purple code because they did not care if we did read
it, since reading it would make it all the more clear to
the American officials that Japanese peace efforts were
gsincere and that the Japanese would go to war if the peace
negotiations should fail, This explanation, which I find more
convincing, is also confirmed by Tojo’s repeated deadlines
set for the end of negotiations during November, 1941,

During the nearly quarter of a century since 1944, and
despite a series of official investigations, the defenders of
Roosevelt among historians, journalists andpoliticians have
been able to keep the vital information about the respon-
sibility for war with Japan and the surprise attack on Pearl
Harbor from the American people. In this article the
attempt will be made to set forth as much of this withheld
information as can be put down within the space avaijlable,

II, ROOSEVELT’S POLICIES PRIOR TO PEARL HARBOR

Since this article is to be devoted mainly to explaining
why and how Pearl Harbor was surprised on December 7,
1941, we can provide only a very brief summary of Roose~
velt’s basic foreign policies and diplomatic actions which
bear directly upen this problem,

He was chiefly concerned with the planning and operation
of his New Deal domestic policy down to 1937, even to 1939,
but he did not forget armament and possible war, even
diverting NRA funds to finance naval expansion, chiefly
directed against Japan. In early January, 1933, even before
he had been inaugurated, and against the urgings of Raymond
Moley and Rexford G, Tugwell, he had accepted as the basis
of his policy toward Japan the bellicose attitude of Henry L.
Stimson which would have led the United States into war
with Japan in 1932 or 1933 had Stimson not been checked by
President Hoover’s firm stand for peace, a situation
explained to me in detail by former President Hoover,

Whenever his domestic policy struck reverses and hard

sledding Roosevelt turned to foreign policy with aggressive
implications. The first such trend appeared following the
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rebuff to his main political measures in Congress in 1937,
as well as the sharp economic recession that began in the
summer of 1937, It produced the inciting quarantine doctrine
of his Chicago Bridge Speech of October 5, 1937, With the
outbreak of war in Europe in September, 1939, his aggres-
sive foreign policy continued unceasingly until the attack
on Pearl Harbor. Roosevelt’s attempt to purge a no longer
docile Congress in the election of 1938 proved an igno-
minious failure, and the New Deal appeared to be in a
permanent slump. It obviously had not solved the depres-
sion. Nor had the increasing expenditures for armament
succeeded in providing full prosperity.

When war broke out in Europe in early September, 1939,
this gave Roosevelt an ominous impulse and continuous
inspiration, The war had hardly begun when, on Septemher
11th, Roosevelt wrote Churchill, then only First Lord of
the Admiralty, suggesting that they work together through
a secret system of communication: “What I want you and
the Prime Minister to know is that I shall at all times
welcome if, if you will keep me in touch personally with
anything you want me to know about. You can always send
sealed letters through your pouch or my pouch.” Churchill
is said to have responded enthusiastically, including the
statement: “I am half American and the natural person to
work with you. It is evident that we see eye to eye. Were
I to become Prime Minister of Britain we could control
the world.” A method of secret communication was agreed
upon in which Roosevelt would sign himself “Potus” (Pres-
ident of the United States), and Churchill would sign a8
“Former Naval Person®. About 2000 messages were eX-
changed in this way prior to Pearl Harbor, and Churchill
is our authority for the statement that the really important
negotiations and agreements between Britain and the United
States from 1939 to Pearl Harbor were handled in this way,
all quite unknown to the American public.

It has since become obvious that while Roosevelt was
assuring this country of his peaceful aims he was also
actually doing all possible in cooperation with Churchill
to get us into war as soon as practicable, In addition to
other sources, I have this information personally from
Tyler Kent, the code clerk in the American embassy in
London, who read all of this material from September,
1939, to the time of his arrest in May, 1941. Two telegrams
that have been recovered from this secret correspondence,
indicate the temor and objectives of their collaboration,
Roosevelt told Churchill that the United States was firmly
isolationist and could not be induced to enter the war in
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. "behalf of Poland. Churchill responded: “Every chain has
" its weakest spot and the weak link in the Axis chain is
.. Japan. Goad Japan into attacking the U, S. and you will have.
. ~the U, S, in the war.” While this proved to be the strategy
-. followed by Roosevelt, it is unlikely that the policy originated
‘with Churchill.

‘As Professor William L. Neumann has made clear in his
America Encounters Japan {pp. 235-230) this plan to enter
a war with Japan, evento provoke Japanto war, was opposed
by the overwhelming mass of the American people in the
late 1930’s. Even the annual conventions of the American
Legion in 1937 and 1938 demanded “absolute neutrality”.
The Veterans of Foreign Wars started acampaignto secure
25 million signatures for a petition to “Keep America out
of War”, Even the Ludlow Resolution requiring a national
referendum on the declaration of war only failed of passage
because of the tremendous pressure exerted by Roosevelt
through influential public figures.

Despite the strong American isolationist sentiment, Roose~
velt never really gave up hope of getting the United States
into the war after October, 1937, first and directly in
Europe until at least the end of July, 194l. During the
spring and summer of 1941 he did everythmg posgible to
provoke Germany and Italy to produce some “act of war”
in Europe or on the Atlantic that he could use to get the
United States into the European conflict, especially through
our illegal convoying of munitions and supplies to Britain
and Russia, but neither Germany nor ltaly would rise to
the bait, He had not, however, neglected the possibility of
war with Japan, The extensive and quasi-secret increases
in the American navy after 1933 ohbviously pointed the finger
at Japan. As far back as the winter of 1937-1938 he had
sent Captain Royal E. Ingerscll to Europe to discusa with
the English the possibilities of collaboration in the event
of war with Japan,

In January, 1941, Roosevelt and Hull rejected the amazingly
generous Japanese effort to sertle Japanese-American
relations by peaceful methods presented by a commission
with full Japanese authorization. The rebuff of this really
sensational overture from Japan seriously undermined the
hope of the latter in arriving at a peaceful settlement with
the United States, but the effort was continued for over ten
months. Japan offered to retire from the Rome-Berlin-
Tokyo Axis in return for a guaranty of peace with the
United States.
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Although Roosevelt had campaigned in 1940 on the basis
of promising to keep the United States out of war, he quickly
reversed his position. In Janwary, 1941, he sent Harry
Hopkins to London to confer with Churchill, Hopkins
informed the latter that:

The President is determined that we shall win the
war together. Make no mistake about it,

He has sent me here to tell you that at all costs
and by all means he will carry you through, no
matter what happens to him=--there is nothing that
we will not do so far as he has human power.

Arrangements were also quickly made for joint-staff
conferences with the British to arrange a plan for military
collaboration: ABC-1. These were held in Washington from
January through March, 1941, In April, another conference
was held in Singapore, and this time the Dutch were included
to provide for a triangular arrangement: ADB. Combined,
they came to be known as the ABCD agreement. The Singa-
pore ADB provided that, if the Japanese moved southward
beyond an arbitrary line~--100" East and 10° North--or
even threatened to attack British or Duich possessions in
the Southwest Pacific, the United States would join them in
war against the Japanese even though the Japanese did not
attack American possessions, forces or flag,

On the basis of this ABCD agreement, the American
military services drew up a general war plan known as
Rainbow 5, also usually called WPL 46 when used to
describe the Navy basic war plan, WPPac46, the U. S,
Pacific fleet coordinating plan, governed Admiral Kimmel's
operations. These were promulgated in Aprii, 1941, and
orally approved by Roosevelt in May and June. Admiral
Harold R. Stark, Chief of Naval Operations, informed his
leading commanders that it was no longer a question of
whether the United States would be involved in war but
only one of when and where, This ABCD agreement and the
resulting war plans grearly extended the range of possible
provocations to war and provided the first important impulse
that led some American military leaders, especially after
July, 1941, to consider the likelihood that war might break
out in the southwest Pacific rather than by an attack on
Pear! Harbor, It thus fatally blurred the basic assumption
in our Pacific naval strategy which had long been based on
the probability that the Japanese would first attack the
Pacific fleet to protect their flank before making extensive
military movements in the Far East,
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The ABCD agreement also exposed Roosevelt to the .
possibility of serious political embarrassment. He had
frequently promised that we would not enter any war unless
attacked, but the ABCD agreement and the associated war
plans were based on the pledge to make war if the situation
so demanded without an attack on the United States,

At first, this did not worry Roosevelt too much, for he
fully expected that Hitler would provide provocative action
on the Atlantic in response to illegal American procedure
in convoying war materials to Britain and later to Russia,
When this did not eventuate and it appearedthat Japan would
be the actual opponent, it became essential for Roosevelt
to do all possible to assure that Japan would provide the
indispensable attack that was needed to unite the American
people behind him in war, To bring this about it appeared
hecesgary to prevent the Hawaiian commanders from taking
any defensive action which would deter the Japanese from
attacking Pearl Harbor which, of necessity, had to be a
surprise attack,

From March to November, 1941, Roosevelt encouraged
Secretary of State Hull to stall the obviously ardent desire
of the Japanese, based on self-interest, to arrive ata
reasonable and peaceful settiement of Japanese-American
relations. By the latter part of July, Roosevelt had about
given up hope of getting an act of war from Germany or
Italy, and decided to increase pressure on Japan which
would make war virtually certain, On July 25th-26th he
froze all Japanese assets in the United States and soon
placed an embargo on trade with Japan, inwhich the British
and Dutch followed suit, thus facing Japan with economic
strangulation unless she could get supplies from the south-
west Pacific area, presumably by force,

Washington authorities, especially Admirals Stark and
Richmond Kelley Turner, chief of Naval War Plans, recog-
nized that this would force Japan to move rapidly into this
forbidden region to secure vital materials which had been
placed under an embargo by the ABCD countries., General
George C. Marshall, Army Chief of Staff, and Stark sent
notices to American commanders in leading outposts that
they should take this situation and outlook into serious
consideration,

This was a second factor which led many of the top
military brass in Washington to shift some of their attention
from the traditional Pacific strategy based on a probable
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Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, even in the face of the
Bomb Plot intercepts after September, 1941, which clearly
pointed to Pearl Harbor as the first Japanese target. War
might start in the Far East. It also helps to account for the
fact that the lower or operating units in Army Intelligence
and the Signal Corps and in Navy Intelligence and Com=
munications at Waghington, who were less fully informed
on the partly secret top strategic commitments of ABCD
and Rainbow 5 and were devoted to studying the current
facts, remained insistent that due attention should he given
to the threat to Pearl Harbor and that the Hawaiian com=~
manders should be fully warned of the Japanese menace,

On August 9-12, 1941, Roosevelt met with Churchill at
Argentia, off the coast of Newfoundland, and arranged the
details of entering the second World War through the back-
door of a war with Japan. Churchill wished immediate war
but Roosevelt insisted on having at least three months to
“baby” the Japanese along so as to have more time to get
ready for war, to allow Russiatotake more heat off Britain,
and to extend the possibility that Germany or Italy would
still provide an act of war on the Atlantic, now that Russia
was at war with Germany. These aggressive moves were
disguised to the American public by issuing ahigh-sounding
but morally deceptive Atlantic Charter, actually only a
press release, the terms of which had been violated before
the ink was dry on the document; indeed, by actions before
the meeting at Argentia.

The official adoption of the “back door” policy and
strategy at Argentia produced a powerful impulse to the
top military brass to shift their primary concern to Japan
and the Far East, Stark had previously been assuring
Kimmel that Germany was our main enemy and that Roose=
velt did not wish to get into a two-front war, involving
both Germany and Japan. It was now apparent that, if
necessary, Roosevelt intended to provoke Japan in the
Far East and that the United States would enter the war in
this manner,

Immediately on his return from Newfoundland, Roosevelt,
with the approval of Churchill, called in the Japanese
ambassador to the Unired States, Admiral Kichisaburo
Nomura, and administered to him an unprovoked and
gratuitous tongue-lashing that even Stimson regarded as
an ultimatum, This was done toc undermine the Japanese
peace party that was still in office, and to strengthen the
war party. This airn was fully accomplished when Roosevelt
and Hull unceremoniously brushed off the impressive effort
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of Prime Minister Fumimaro Konoye of Japan to reach a
final peaceful adjustment with the United States, including
meeting Roosevelt at any reasonable designated spor and
accepting in advance the “four principles” that Hull had
announced in April, 1941, as the required basis of a peace-
ful settlement of Far Eastern problems with Japan.

Konoye was replaced as premier by General Hideki Tojo
on October 16, 1941, Even the Tojo government offered
terms of settlement in November which protected all
legitimate American interests in the Far East, but Roose-
velt and Hull rejected these, threw over the temporary
modus vivendj that General Marshall and Admiral Stark
wished in order to complete adequate plans for a Pacific
war, and sent to Japan on November 26 an ultimatum
which Hull frankly announced took our relations with Japan
out of the realm of diplomacy and placed them in the hands
of the military: Roosevelt and Secretaries Stimson and Knox,
It was recognized by the Washington authorities, who were
reading the Japanese diplomatic messages in the Purple
code, that this would mean war when the Japanese replied
tc Hull. Steps were taken to insure that the Hawaiian
commanders, General Walter C. Short and Admiral Hushand
E, Kimmel, would not be forewarned of any impending
Japanese attack at Pearl Harbor,

Since we shall be mentioning the problem of warning
Short and Kimmel, it may be well here to clear up some
elementary details. The overall protection of the Hawaiian
District, including Pearl Harbor, was entrusted to General
Short as commander-in-chief of the Hawaiian District.
Cooperating with him was Admiral Claude C, Bloch, com-
mander of the Fourteenth Naval District. His function was
to protect the Pearl Harbor naval base. The Naval Com-
munications Intelligence staff, headed by Commander Joseph
J. Rochefort, was nominally under the control of Admiral
Bloch. Admiral Kimmel was commander-in-chief of the
Pacific fleet and the supreme naval authority at Pearl
Harbor. His duties were primarily strategic and related to
preparing naval hardware and personnel for controlling
the mid-Pacific and, if necessary, moving the fleet both to
protect Pearl Harbor and to wage war in accordance with
orders from Washington based on WPL 46. Important
communications from General Marshall, such as warnings
of an attack, were sent directly to General Short, Similarly,
such warnings from Admiral Stark were sent directly to
Admiral Kimmel, who had his own Fleet Intelligence
service. Communications from Washington relative to the
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protection of the Hawaiian naval base at Pearl Harbor
were normally sent to Admiral Bloch,

It has been maintained by some critics that Roosevelt
was one of the most determined war-mongers of all history,
This is a needless overstatement, it is nearer to the truth
to state that in his foreign policy Roosevelt was one of the
more notable opportunists inthe historical record. Churchill
may have been an opportunist on domestic policies, but he
was consistent in being a partisan of the war,

As Assistant Secretary of Navy under Woodrow Wilson,
Roosevelt was an ardent interventionist in regard to the
first World War, and later was a strong supporter of the
League of Nations, In 1932, he repudiated the League to
get the support of Hearst, which was indispensable if he
were to win the Democratic nominarion. In his campaign
of 1936, he described our folly in entering the first World
War and questioned Wilson’s wisdom in leading us into it.
After the 1936 election, when at Buenos Aires, he con-
demned nations that maintained prosperity through an
armament economy, but by early 1939 he had adopted
precisely this program to bolster the New Deal and assure
himself a third term.

From this time until Pearl Harbor Roosevelt followed a
combined policy of announcing peaceful intentions while
planning for war. He informed the American public that he
was determined to keep the peace, He told Churchill that
he would bring the United States into the war as soon as
possible without going so rapidly as to upset their whole
plan. His diplomacy all during 1941 was provocative of
war, involving this country both in Europe and the Far
East, while he was assuring the American public that
everything he did was “short of war” and designed to keep
us out of war. This brief review provides the essential
background against which we must view the developments
leading to the attack on Pearl Harbor.

11, WASHINGTON SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN SURPRISED
WHEN THE JAPANESE ATTACKED PEARL. HARBOR

1. The Probable Place of a Japanese Attack in the
Event of War with the United States

No item in the revisionist presentation of the causes and
merits of the second World War is better established than
the fact that no top military or civilian authority in Wash-
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ington on December 7, 1941, should have been surprised
at either the place or time of the Japanese attack on the
Pacific fleet at Pearl Harbor. The only elementof surprise,
if any, should have been over the damage that the Japanese
planes delivered to the fleet,

After the Japanese had abandoned dependence on their
Red diplomartic code, which American cryptanalysts had
earlier broken, American experts in the Army Signal
Corps, directed by Colonel William F. Friedman, had
broken the top Japanese Purple diplomatic code by mid-
August, 1940, and for a year and a half before Pearl
Harbor Washington had been intercepting and reading the
secret Japanese diplomatic messages to their officials all
over the world, Less difficult diplomatic codes, such as
J-19 and PA-K2, were also easily read. Among other
things, this breakthrough had enabled the Washington
authorities to know that the Japanese peace offers were
sincere and not mere window dressing for sinister later
designs of an aggressive nature, The Japanese messages
also revealed equally clearly that if even extreme Japanese
efforts to reach a peaceful settlement with the United
States failed, the Japanese would go to war for self-
preservation and self-respect. We may first consider the
extensive evidence that, if Japan did attack the United
States, it would be where the American fleet was then
located, namely, at Pearl Harbor.

For years before the attack on Pearl Harbor, naval
maneuvers had been held off the island of Oahu in Hawaii
to test the feasibility of a Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor,
The results were far from reassuring to the United States,
and were equally a definite warning of the danger and
practicability of a Japanese task force attack there, As
early as 1932, Admiral Harry E. Yarnell, one of our
earliest air-minded naval officers, made the first carrier-
based task force test and he was able to execute a surprise
attack when operating only sixty miles off Pearl Harbor,
These maneuvers were continued, and in 1938 a success-
ful air attack was launched from the carrier Saratoga one
hundred miles off Pearl Harbor. The Japanese task force
in December, 1941, operated from over 200 miles away.
In April, 1941, General Frederick L. Martin and Admiral
Parrick N. L. Bellinger, commanders of the Army and
Navy air forces respectively at Pearl Harber, described
in detail the nature of a possible Japanese air attack on
Pearl Harbor which was uncannily identical with Yama-
moto’s plan for the actual Japanese attack a few months
later. This was forwarded to the Army and Navy head-
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quarters in Washington but no positive response or pro-
tective operation took place.

Long before Admiral Kimmel assumed command at Pearl
Harbor in January, 1941, it had become basic in Pacific
naval strategy to accept the fact that if the Japanese ever
started a war with the United States they would first strike
our Pacific fleet, especially if based at Pearl Harbor, to
protect their flank before they could safely move large
naval forces south or north from Japan. This had been
constantly emphasized to Washington from the time of the
assertions of General Hugh Drum in 1935 and of General
George V., Strong in 1940, to the observations in 1941 of
Commander Arthur N, McCollum, head of the Far Eastern
Section of Naval Intelligence, the man who had probably
the best informed concepticns of the maval and diplomatic
situation in the Far East, with the possible exception of
Colonel Otis K. Sadtler of the Army Signal Corps and
Colonel Rufus S. Bratton, Chief of the Far Eastern Section
of Military Intelligence.

Viewed most generally, then, it had long been assumed
that the Japanese would not go to war with the United
States without first protecting their flank by trying to
destroy the American Pacific fleet, wherever it was
stationed. It was also clear that the American fleet would
be both more inciting and more vulnerable to a Japanese
attack if stationed at Pearl Harbor, as compared to its
relative safety before the spring of 1940, when it had been
based on the Pacific coast of the United States, mainly at
San Diego. Admiral James O, Richardson, Kimmel’'s able
predecessor as commander of the Pacific fleet, bitterly
protested the fleet’s permanent retention at Pearl Harbor,
after maneuvers in the spring of 1940, and labelled Pearl
Harbor “a damned mouse trap” for the American navy.

Indeed, it is certain that Richardson’s untimely removal
as head of the fleet was brought about by his determined
resistance to what he considered the folly of keeping the
fleet at Pearl Harbor. Admiral Frank E. Beatty, a well
informed authority, has told me that it may also have been
due in part to the animosity of Harry Hopkins, who sat in
on Richardson’s conferences with Roosevelt. Richardson
was annoyed by Hopkins’ interjection of his opinions into
the debate and understandably commented unflatteringly on
Hopkins® lack of qualifications as an authority on naval
strategy.

Added to this generalized conception of our Pacific naval
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strategy centering around Pearl Harbor was a precise
statement from our Ambassador in Tokyo, Joseph C. Grew,
in January, 1941, that he had received a friendly warning
from the Peruvian Minister in Tokyo, which the latter
had obtained from several sources, one Japanese, to the
effect that, if Japan could not reach peaceful relations with
the United States, it would start war by a surprise attack on
Pearl Harbor, After the successful Japanese attack on
December 7, 1941, the Washington authorities, who were
desperately trying to cover up their bad guessing or actual
guilt, tried to represent this warning as worthless hearsay,
but it was not so regarded by Ambassador Grew and some
top Washington officials in January, 1941, notably Secretary
of the Navy, Frank Knox,

It was not necessary, however, to rely on generalized
strategic considerations, however sound. From September,
1941, to December 7th Washington authorities intercepted
a considerable number of Japanese messages between
Tokyo and Honolulu that specifically and most obviously
indicated that, in the event of war bhetween Japan and the
United States, the first Japanese move would actually be
a surprise attack on the Pacific fleet--that Pearl Harbor
would be the target, These messages came to be known as
the “Bomb Plot” messages and consisted of requests from
the Japanese government in Tokyo to the Japanese consul-
general in Honolulu, Nagoa Kita, for detailed and specific
information as to the nature, number and types of vessels
in the Pacific fleet at Pearl Harbor, their location and move=
ments, and other relevant information connected with the
American military establishment located there, together
with Kita's replies to these requests. These requests from
Tokyo to Kita became more insistent, frequent and detailed
as we approach December 7, 1941,

The first of these was sent in the J-19 Japanese code to
Kita on September 24, 1941, and was decoded, translated
and read on October 9th at Washington. This requested very
detailed information on the composition, location, and opera-
tions of the Pacific fleet at Pearl Harbor, From this time
onward, Washington should have had no doubt that the Japa-
nese were planning a surprise artack on Pearl Harbor, if
negotiations failed, The Bomb Plot messages clearly pin-
pointed Pearl Harbor as the target of any Japanese surprise
attack on the United States.

When relations became more tense after the fall of the

Konoye Cabinet in October, 1941, Tokyo ordered that these
espionage reports from Kita should be sent at more frequent
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intervals. On November 15th, Kita was ordered to send his
reports twice each week, On November 18th and 20th,
orders were given to inform Tokyo in regard to all our
warships and others anchored in areas adjacent to Pearl
Harbor. On November 29th, Kita was ordered to make his
reports, even though there had heen no movements of the
warships at Pearl Harbor,

No such detailed or comprehensive reports, containing
as they did grids and coordmates were demanded of any
Japanese officials and spies at any other American outpost
or naval base anywhere in the world, not even those on the
Pacific coast. Those who have sought to minimize the
significance of these Kita Bomb Plot messages have pointed
out thar Japanese spies were frequently detected making
inquiries at leading American naval bases but these were
routine and trivial matters and not in any way to be com-
pared or rated with the Kita messages. All these Bomb
Plot messages were available to the appropriate top Wash-
ington officials in the Army and Navy and to Roosevelt and
Hull, and they thoroughly established the probability that if
the Japanese made any surprise attack on the United States
it would be at Pearl Harbor.

The most crucial Kita report available in Washington
before Pearl Harbor was sent to Tokyo by Kita on December
3rd. He informed the Japanese government that he had
set up an elaborate system of window code signals at
Lanikai Beach which were easily visible to boats off the
coast. From this spot he would signal passing Japanese
fishing craft and submarines as to the nature and move-
ments of the Pacific fleet, These boats and submarines
could then pass this vital information back to the Japanese
tagsk force as it was nearing Pearl Harbor for the attack.

This sensational and revealing message was intercepted
at the army monitoring station at Fort Hunt, Virginia, on
the 3rd, was decoded by Naval Communications in Wash-
ington hefore noon on the 6th, and was translated and ready
for reading and distribution before 2:30 P, M. on that day.
This finally confirmed the pin-pointing of Pearl Harbor as
the place of the Japanese attack. Due to the fact that the
Kita message implied that the signals would end on the
night of the 6th, this December 3rd intercept also clearly
indicated that the Japanese task force under Admiral
Nagumo was moving on toward Pearl Harbor and intended
to organize off Oahu on the night of the 6th, and make ready
for the artack on Pearl Harbor the next morning. Hence,
this message not only made it clear that Pearl Harbor
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would be the place of the Japanese attack but algso revealed
the time of this attack, unless something happened to slow
down or divert Nagumo’'s expected arrival on the 6th as
anticipated,

How far Roosevelt, Hull, and the top military brass in
Washington were informed of the nature, contents and impli-
cations of this vital and revealing Kita message that was
available on the 6th has, naturally, been the subject of
much controversy. It was actually far more revealing than -
the fourteen-part reply to Hull and the Time of Delivery
message as to the time, place and certainty of an immediate
Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor. If it could be proved that
its contents had been known to the top officials in Washing-
ton by early evening of the 6th, then their failure to warn
Kimmel and Short would appear to be far more culpable than
that connected with the replies to Hull that were not avail=
able until the late evening of the 6th and the morning of the
7th, and even then did not make the time and place of the
Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor anything more thantrained
and informed guesswork. Hence, there would be every
effort to indicate that no information about this Kita message
was available until after the attack,

Certain of the important facts about the Kita message are
established beyond any reasonable doubt. Its interception
on December 3rd has been described. It was decoded some
time between the 3rd and 6th and was given to the translating
section of Naval Communications for translating. This was
done by a Mrs. Dorothy Edgers, a competent expert on the
Japanese language, between 8:00 A, M, and 2:30 P, M.on the
6th. Her immediate superior was Yeoman Bryant, and the
chief of the section was Commander Kramer. Both of these
men knew during the time that Mrs. Edgers was working
on the translation that she regarded it as a very important
document and that she gave it careful attention, She was
supposed to leave at noon, but was so much interested in
the document that she worked until after 2:00 P.M. to
complete and revise her translation. She handed it over to
Yeoman Bryant to discuss with Commander Kramer with
respect to its distribution to toplevel civil and militaxy
officials entitled to receive such material. While there is
controversy over whether Kramer read the Edgers’ trans-
later carefully, there iz little doubt that Bryant did so. The
main dispute is over whether Kramer distributed the mes-
sage to at least a few key officials in the Army and Navy
on the afternoon of the 6th.
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The accepted legend is that when Kramer looked over the
Edgers’ translation after she left the office he found that it
was 80 imperfect that it was unsuitable for immediate
distribution. The excitement that followed with the arrival
“of the Plot Megsage and the Japanese reply to Hull, together
with Kramer’'s responsibility for distributing the reply to
Hull during the evening of the 6th, made him decide to
delay reworking the Edgers’ translation until Monday, the
8th, when it was too late to be of any value in warning
Kimmel and Short.

The circumstantial evidernce tends to support the proba-
bility that Kramer read the Edgers’ translation well enough
to recognize its great and immediate significance and
showed the message to some of the leading officers in the
Navy, and possibly in the Army, and was ordered by these
persons, who recognized its importance, to suppress it for
the time being. Mrs, Edgers was a competent translator,
and she remembered the essential parts and the full
implications of the message well enough so she could
describe the contents on the witness-stand some three and
a half years later without ever refreshing her memory by
seeing the document during that long interval. If she could
remember the message, it is likely that Kramer could have
quickly grasped its significance.

He was familiar with the Bomb Plot messages from the
time of the first one decoded on Gctober 9th, the importance
of which he was the first to recognize, Since the reply to
Hull was in English, Kramer did not have to be busy trans-
lating this on the afternoon of the 6th and should have had
plenty of time to study the Edgers’ translation and call it to
the attention of his responsible superiors. Kramer was the
most severely intimidated of all the witnesses in the post-
Pearl Harbor investigations--t0 the extent of bringing on a
nervous breakdown. Hence, he was not likely to come clean
in his testimony on the Kita message if he did suppress it,
He has declined to answer personal questions on the matrrer
since his retirement, Although Yeoman Bryant was present
in the room during the investigation he was not called to
testify.

Hence, we are likely to remain as much in the dark about
documenting the distribution of this final and most sensa-
tional of the Bomb Plot messages as we are about Captain
Kirk’s frustrations in regard to the first one on October
9th. The best discussion of the controversy to reach print
is that by Commander Charles C. Hiles which was published
in the Pearl Harbor supplement to the Chicago Txibune on
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December 7, 1966, the twenty=fifth anniversary of the attack
on Pearl Harbor,

Why these Bomb Plot messages were not sent to Hawaii
by the Washington authorities, so they could be used by
Kimmel and Short and enable them to be prepared for the
Japanese attack has never been adequately explained. In
naval headquarters at Washington, they were suppressed
chiefly by Admiral Richmond Kelley Turner, whose ignor-
ance of the details of the cryptanalytic set-up and operations
at Pearl Harbor was only exceeded by his arrogant self-
confidence, and Admiral Stark backed him up instead of
keeping his promise to Admiral Kimmel to have him fully
and speedily informed on all such matters. At the army
headquarters the responsibility was mainly that of General
Marshall and General Sherman Miles, chief of Military
Intelligence, Until December 3rd, most of these messages
were intercepted by the Army Signal Corps station MS5 at
Fort Shafter, General Short's headquarters near Honolulu,
and were transmitted to Washington for decoding, trans-
lation and reading, They were also usually intercepted
at several other monitoring stations in the United States.

When the first one was decoded, translated and read on
October 9th, Commander Alwyn D. Kramer, who was in
charge of the translation work for the Far East section of
Naval Communications, noted that this was a very signifi-
cant message that needed further study, It must have
received such study for Captain Alan G, Kirk, the able,
forthright and experienced Director of the Office of Naval
Information at the time, insisted that the October 9th
message must be sent to Admiral Kimmel, He was blocked
in this proposal by Admiral Turner, who was supported
in this by Admiral Stark. Frustrated and disgusted, Kirk
left his post and soughr the sea duty he necded to become
an admiral, and later rendered very distinguished scrvice
in naval operations in Europe. The details of Kirk’s leaving
for sea duty have been furnished to me in person by Admiral
Beatty, at that time chief aide to Secretary Knox,

It is most unfortunate that Admiral Kirk was not thor-
oughly interviewed after the war concerning the refusal of
Stark and Turner to permit him to transmit this first Bomb
Plot message to Kimmel. I had arranged to have this done
in 1962 when Kirk was residing in New York City. Being on
the opposite side of the continent at this time, [ could not
do it personally, but had arranged that a trained interviewer
and an expert on Pearl Harbor would carry it out. He
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delayed briefly to make more complete preparation, and in
the meantime Kirk was appointed American ambassador
to Formosa (Taiwan), Another student of the situation,
without my approval, toock the chance of writing Admiral
Kirk in Formosa about the incident. It was hardly to be
expected that Kirk could give any detailed answer under
these circumstances, He might well have been expected
to ignore the letter but he gave a courteous reply, making
no categorical denial and thus by indirection implying that
he may have been prevented from transmitting the informa-
tion to Kimmel, He soon retired due to ill-health, was then
in no condirtion to accept the request for an interview, and
died soon after his retirement, This ended the possibility
of clearing up the October problem in any final and defini-
tive manner, That the situation in the Office of Naval
Intelligence was confused in 1941 is evident from the fact
that by the end of October there had been four chiefs of
this organization: Captains Anderson, James, Kirk and
Wilkinson,

It is certain that Turner was directly responsible for
frustrating Kirk, but there is no proof that this was the
result of any conspiracy to keep Kimmel in the dark,
Turner was a very able but conceited officer, sure of him-
self. His mind was mainly on the Atlantic, and so far as
the Pacific was concerned he still believed that the Japanese
would attack Siberia., He was unpardonably ignorant about
Pearl Harbor intercepting facilities at the time, actually
believing that it had a Purple machine and was reading the
Japanese diplomatic messages on the spot. The main
responsibility for Kirk’s frustration was, however, that of
Stark, who had promised Kimmel that he would transmit
to him all significant information about any possible Japa=-
nese menace to Pearl Harbor, and Kirk had been fully
informed of this, Why Stark deferred to Turner in this
episode has never been cleared up. Admiral Beatty informed
me that Turner often dominated Stark in the matter of naval
decisions. Stark refused to clarify matters in a long inter-
view with Percy Greaves in mid-December, 1962. It has
been alleged on good authority that an attempt was made to
falsify the Naval Directory for 1941 to indicate that Kirk
had left his post as Director of ONI before October 9, 1941,

léirk was succeeded by an able but far less experienced
and more pliant person, Captain Theodore S. Wilkinson,
who may have feared to repeat Kirk’s insistence with
Turner. This has come to be known as “the October
Revolution” in the Office of Naval Intelligence. In any
event, both the Army and Navy Departments had these




crucial Bomb Plot messages at hand and if they neglected
them, then it was no less than a criminal neglect and it
was an important factor in leading to the destruction of the
Pearl Harbor fleet. The place--and through the Kita message
of December 3rd even the probabie time--of the Japanese
surprise attack no longer needed to be a mystery. Not only
the Japanese inquiries as to the fleet, facilities and supplies
at Pearl Harbor but also the general strategic logic of all
the circumstances connected with the launching of a Japanese
war against the United States at any time, and especially in
1941, made it all but certain that the first drastic move
would be against Pearl Harbor. Japan did not need to be
attacked to start a war, as Roogevelt did. It needed to
destroy the American Pacific fleet, and it would be difficult
to do this after war had started elsewhere, Admiral Kimmel
would then deploy and scatter his forces as they moved to
Wake, Midway and the Far East and they would never again
be bunched up as they were at Pearl Harbor in peacetime,

It should also be emphasized that although the treatment
of the Bomb Plot messages in the preceding pages has
stressed the role of the Navy in receiving and handling
them, the Army also obtained them, and alert officers
therein were impressed as Captain Kirk had been by the
threat to Pearl Harbor which rhey revealed. Colonel Rufus
S. Bratton, chief of the Far Eastern section of Military
Intelligence, delivered the original Bomb Plot message,
decoded on October 9th, to Secretary of War Stimson,
General Marshall and General Leonard T, Gerow, chief of
the War Plans division of the Army. These messages were
discussed by officers in Military Intelligence and the Signal
Corps and most of them recognized the desirability of
sending them to General Short at Fort Shafter, but they were
no more able to get past Marshall and do so than Kirk,
Wilkinson, Noyes and McCollum could get by Turner and
Stark. Just as Turner was the chief navy obstacle to getting
the Bomb Plot messages through to Kimmel, so Marshatl
constituted the main blockage in passing them on to Short,
although he could delegate the action to General Miles,
chief of Military Intelligence. Marshall was also the person
mainly responsible for the slow transmission of the Bomb
Plot messages from MS5 at Fort Shafter to Washington,
compelling them to be sent by the China Clipper, every two
weeks, or by ordinary boat mail, when they could have been
sent at once by cablegram or RCA radiogram, In other
words, General Short was as much victimized as Admiratl
Kimmel in being deprived of these vitally important Bomb
Plot messages. X :
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2. The Time of the Japanese Surprise Attack

Washington also possessed extensive and diversified
advance knowledge of the time when the Japanese would
attack Pearl Harbor; by the morning of December 7th
almost to the minute when the attack would be launched,
The Kita message, which had been prepared for distribution
by 2:30 P,M. on the 6th, also indicated even more directly
that the attack would in all probability take place on the
morning of the 7th.

On November S5th, Tokyo informed the Japanese embassy
at Washington that negotiations must be satisfactorily con-
cluded by November 25th. Unknown to Washington was the
fact that the latter was also the date that the Japanese task
force was getting ready to leave the Kurile Islands for
Pearl Harbor if negotiations were broken off, but with
orders to return if negotiations were resumed. On Novem=
ber 14th, Tokyo informed the Japanese consul at Hong Kong
that Japan would declare war on the United States and
Great Britain, if the negotiations with the United States
failed. On November 11, 15 and 16, Tokyo repeated to the
Japanese ambassador in Washington that the deadiine for
completing negotiations with the United States was Novem-
ber 25th, Orn November 22nd this deadline was extended to
the 29th, hut the Japanese embassy in Washington was then
emphatically informed that Tokyo meant business this time
and there would be no further extension of the deadline,
After that “things are automatically going to happen.” On
November 27th and 28th, Tokyo informed the Japanese
embassy in Washingron that Hull’s ultimatum of November
26th was entirely unsatisfactory and Japan would not
negotiate any further on that basis. Hull himself had said
on the 27th that he knew his ultimatum meant war and that,
henceforth, affairs between the United States and Japan
were in the hands of Stimson and Knox, the Secretaries
of War and the Navy, both of course under the control of
President Roosevelt, On November 30th, Tokyo informed
Germany that negotiations with the Unired States had ended.,

Yet, on November 27, 28, 30 and December 1st there was
a succession of messages from Tokyo to the Japanese
embassy in Washington warning them not to reveal that
negotiations were over, but to indicate they were being
stretched out, This move was both a last ditch attempt at
a peaceful settlement and, if that failed, an efforr to cover
up the actual nature of “the things that are automatically
going to happen” after negotiations had ended, which was
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really on the 26th. These “things” were the departure of
the Japanese task force from the Kuriles to Pearl Harbor,
There had been no effort whatever to conceal the extensive
movement of large Japanese convoys and task forces to
the southwest Pacific, and, hence, these were clearly not
the things which were “automatically going to happen.”

The policy of sending extensive Japanese convoys and
tagk forces southward helped to distract responsible atten-
tion in Washington from a possible attack on Pearl Harbor,
even if it should not have done so, and thus worked well for
the Japanese program, This was one reason why many top
officials in Washington seemed to neglect the traditional
Pacific strategy in regard to Pearl Harbor and the Bomb
Plot messages and after early November concentrated
most of their attention right down to December 7th on the
probability of an attack in the Far East, either on the
Philippines, along the coast of southeast Asia, or on the
British possessions and the Dutch East Indies. A little
thought should have been sufficient to convince the Wash-
ington authorities that Japan would not be likely to make its
first major onslaught in the Far East, Admiral Thomas C,
Hart’s Asiatic fleet was so small that its destruction would
not protect the Japanese flank from a major and immediate
American naval attack,

The most important factor in this distraction from Pearl
Harbor was the basic strategic plan for a possible Pacific
war with Japan, Rainbow 5 (WPL 46), which had heen drawn
up by our military services on the basis of the Washingron
joint staff conferences ending with that at Singapore in April,
1941, and confirmed orally by Roosevelt in May and June.
This plan was based on the assumption that, if war came
with Japan, it might start in the Far East as a result of
American commitments to come to the aid of the British
and Dutch, even if there were no attack on American ships
or territory. This naturally helped to divert the attention
of top military brass in Washington from the traditional
Pacific strategy related to an attack on the Pacific fleet,
wherever located, especially during the week before Pearl
Harbor,

Washington had all the numerous intercepted Japanese
diplomatic messages indicating by November 27, 1941,
that war was in all probability only a matter of days away,
but Kimmel and Short knew nothing whatever about any of
this. They did not even know that Hullhad sent an ultimatum
to Japan on November 26th or that the Japanese had warned
that negotiations were to be ruptured on the 26th if no




sertlement had been arranged. They obviously knew nothing
about the details of the Japanese-American diplomatic
negotiations from August to November 26th; Short was in
the dark after July,

By November 27th, war with Japan seemed almost certain,
and it was expected in Washington official circles that it
would probably come coincident with the Japanese reply to
Hull’s ultimatum. Since Japan usually made its surprise
attacks on a weekend, when opposing forces were most
likely to be relaxed and off-guard, some Washington
authorities, including Roosevelt, thought that the arttack
might come on November 30th, but that was too soon for
Japanese plans, which were centered on the task force’s
departure from the Kuriles and its movement toward Pearl
Harbor. When the Japanese did not attack on the 30th, there
was special apprehension in Washington that it might come
on December 7th, but no plans were made or steps taken
to warn Kimmel and Short of this possibility.

On November 19th, the Japanese announced in their J-19
diplomatic code, which we could and did read, the setiing up
of a so-called Winds System, which Japanese diplomatic
officials and consulates could intercept and learnof Tokyo's
intentions in the event of breaking off diplomatic relations
and going to war with the United States, The Winds signals
were as follows: “East Wind Rain” for the war on the
United States; “West Wind Clear” for waxr on Great Britain;
and “North Wind Cloudy” for war on Russia. This Winds
system, as we shall see, was executed on December 4th,

Evidence of the approach of war became ever more
apparent after November 30th, On December 1lst and 2nd
it was learned that Tokyo had ordered its main embassies,
with the exception of that at Washington, to destroy their
main code machines, including Purple, and burn their
documents. This was a measure that usually precedes
immediate war and is rarely, if ever, otherwise if ordered
on any such scale as in December, 1941. The Washington
Purple machine was to be retained until December 7th so
that Tokyo could keep in touch with the Japanese embassy
and be able to send Ambassador Nomura the reply to Hull,
which would be the last “peaceful” communication, even

though it would also mean, in all probability, the actual
onset of war,

On the morning of December 4th a Japanese message was
intercepted at the important naval monitoring station at
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Cheltenham, Maryland, This did not need to be decoded for
it was written in plain Japanese language and was trans-
mitted in the Japanese Morse code. This was done in order
to enable Japanese officials, who were without decoding
equipment after the codes-destruction order, to be able to
understand this critical message. This intercept was the
all-important execution of the Winds system set up by
Japan on November 19th, It is known as the “Winds Execute”
message and the information therein revealed that war
would be made on the United States and Britain, but not on
Russia,

Later on, when the frenzied effort was made to cover up
the responsibility for the failure of Washington to inform
Kimmel and Short, there was a desperate attempt madé to
deny that any Winds Execute message had ever bheen
received, and most--perhaps all--copies of it were de-
stroyed. The last copy ever seen was identified by Com-
mander Laurance F. Safford when Commander Kramer
was assembling documents for the Roberts Commission a
week after the Pearl Harbor attack. But honest and coura-
geous experts, notably Safford, chief of the Security Divi-
sion of Naval Communications, who had received the inter-
cept from Kramer after translation and handed it over for
distribution, stuck by the facts and demolished all efforts
to repudiate the authenticity of Winds Execute. Safford was
able to list some fourteen persons, including Admiral
Thomas C. Hart, commander of the Asiatic fleet, who said
that they had seen the Winds Execute message or had dis~
cussed it with a responsible official who had seen it, The
Naval Court of Inquiry, which met from July to October,
1944, established beyond any doubt that the Winds Execute
message was received on December 4th. Colonel Otis K.
Sadtler, acting chief of the Army Signal Corps, not only
testified that he had seen the Winds Execute message but
said that he regarded it as the most important intercept
he had ever handled. On it he based a forthright warning to
Marshall’s subordinates, presumably with Marshall’s ap-
proval, The investigations by the Army Pearl Harbor
Board and the Clarke Inquiries indicated that the Army
authorities knew that the Navy had intercepted the Winds
Execute message on December 4th,

Some of the apparent excitement and confusion which
seemed to prevail in Washington military circles on
Pecember 4th, when Winds Execute was received, may
have been due to the fact that this was also the day that
the Chicago Tribune published the implications of Rainbow
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5, thus revealing Roosevelt’s deception of the American
people as to his war plans and his promise not to go to war
unless attacked., At least we know that Marshall was far
more concerned about this vital leak than he was about the
reception of Winds Execute. Colonel John R, Deane was
still working on this problem when he saw Marshall in his
office at 10:00 on the morning of the 7th.

Winds Execute was not only the first explicit assurance
that Japan was going to make war, hut it alsc made it clear
that the war would be declared against the United States,
All that remained to be revealed was the moment of the
Japanese attack, and it was expected that this would be
when the Japanese handed in their reply to Hull’s ultimatum
of the 26th, which turned out to be the case,

It was not necessary to wait long. The final and decisive
Kita Bomb Plot message, sent to Tokyo on December 3rd,
was intercepted at Fort Hunt, Virginia, on the same day,
By December 6th it was decoded, translated and available
for distribution at 2:30 P. M, in the communications section
of the Navy Department in Washington. This revealed that
the Japanese task force was nearing Pearl Harbor and was
expected to arrive off Hawaii by the night of the 6th.

On the heels of processing the Kita message came the
so-called Pilot Message from Tokyo, which announced that
Japan was sending to the Japanese embassy in Washington
its ominous and anxiously awaited reply to Hull’s ultimatum.,
The Pilot Message was decoded, translated and ready for
distribution before mid-afternoon on the 6th and enabled
the Washington authorities to know that the Japanese reply
to Hull was arriving, that negotiations were over, and that
war was now at hand. The whole fourteen-part message
told little more than this, aside from a summary of the
negotiations. There was no doubt that Japan would attack
the United States in a matter of hours, Short and Kimmel
should have been warned at once, This would have provided
their last fair and decent opportunity totake action to avert,
evade or repel the Japanese attack. Of course, they should
and could have been warned weeks earlier, and certainly
by November 27th,

Some thirteen parts of a totral of fourteen in the complete
reply to Hull came in during the afternoon of the 6th, were
decoded from the Purple code, and were ready for distri-
bution by that evening. Since the reply to Hull was in English
it did not need to be translated. A copy was delivered to
Roosevelt and Harry Hopkins at the White House about nine
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o’clock that night. After reading it, Roosevelt acknowledged
that it meant war but he took no steps to order any warning
sent to Pearl Harhor. As we shall pointout later on, Roose-
velt knew by the forenoon of the 6th, if not on the 5Sth, that
the United States was already at war with Japan due to our
commitments to the British and Durch under ABCD and
Rainbow 5.

The thirteen-part message was delivered on the evening
of the 6th to the available Army officers entirled to Magic
and to Hull under the supervision of Colenel Rufus S. Bratton,
chief of the Far East section of Military Intelligence of the
Army, and to the appropriate Navy officers, except for
Stark, who was at a theater, by Commander Alwyn D.
Kramer of the Far East section of Naval Communications,
A copy for Marshall was left by Bratton with Colonel Walter
Bedell Smith, who was Marshall’s secretary and the man,
short of Roosevelt himself, most likely to know where
Marshall was to be found. It was Smith’s duty to deliver
such messages to Marshall,

The final or fourteenth part, also in English, arrived
during the night of the 6th and was decoded by early
morning on the 7th. It confirmed the Pilot Message's
implication that negotiations between Japan and the United
States were over, hardly news to Washington. Following
this fourteenth part of the reply to Hull was another and
far more important short message from Tokyo, the crucial
so~called Time of Delivery message, It ordered the Japa-
nese ambassador, Admiral Nomura, and his associate,
Kurusu, to deliver the full fourteen-part Japanese reply
to Secretary Hull in person at 1:00 P.M., Washington
time, about 7:30 A. M. Pearl Harbor time,

The fourteenth part was intercepted, decoded, and ready
for distribution by 7:30 A.M, and the Time of Delivery
message by 9:00 A.M., if not earlier. One authoritative
report indicates that both were ready for distribution before
7:00 A.M., They had been received before 5:00 A.M, This
does not make too much difference because Admiral Stark
did not get to his office before 9:00 and General Marshall
was either on a horseback ride or hiding out in some place,
When these late intercepts were shown to Admiral Stark,
chief of Naval Operations, about 9:00 by Admiral Leigh
Noyes, chief of Naval Communications, Captain Wilkinson,
chief of Naval Intelligence, and Commander McCollum,
chief of the Far East section of Naval Intelligence, they
pointed out to Stark that 1:00 P, M, in Washington was about
7:30 in Pearl Harbor and that this could very well mean
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that the Japanese would attack Pearl Harbor at 1:00 P, M.
Washington time, Stark had four hours remaining in which
to warn Kimmel, whom he couldhave reached in ten minutes
or less by his fast naval transmitter, but he ignored the
appeal of Admiral Noyes, Captain Wilkinson and Commander
McCollum that he send a separate warning to Kimmel, and
did nothing for the time being beyond phoning to Roosevelt,
who certainly did not order him to warn Kimmel,

Marshall’s conduct on the morning of the 7th was even
more mysterious than that of Stark. According to the
accepted legend, supported by sworn testimony of himself
and prominent army associates, he abruptly left his office
in the oid Munitions Buliding on Saturday afternoon right
after he learned from the Pilot Message that the Japanese
reply to Hull was about to start coming into Washington,
which was exactly the moment Marshall should have settled
down in his office, warned Short of the prospect of immediate
war, and spent the night with him discussing the best
manner of dealing with the imminent attack. Of course, if
he had given Short an honest and adequate warning on
November 27th, there would have been no attack to discuss
on the night of the 6th.

Where Marshall spent the rest of the afternoon and the
night of the 6th has never been determined in any final
fashion, When examined in the Joint Congressional Com-
mittee Investigation of 1945-1946, although known for his
excellent memory, Marshall contended that he could not
remember where he spent the night of December 6th,
probably the most significant, critical and exciting night
of his professional life, at least down to that time. Later
on, after his wife had gallantly refreshed his memory,
Marshall stated that he spent it athome with Mrs, Marshall,
who was recovering from an accident at the time, During
the Joint Congressional Committee investigation Senator
Homer Ferguson reported to his colleague, Senator Owen
Brewster, and to his research aide, Percy L. Greaves,
that a few days after Marshall’s attack of amnesia on the
witness stand, he overheard Marshall tell Senator Alben W.
Barkley, chairman of the JCC: “I could not tell you where
I was Saturday night (the 6th). It would have got the chief
(Roosevelt) into trouble,”

Continuing the official legend, the next morning Marshall
rose leisurely, had a late breakfast with his wife, and then
took a long horseback ride when, for all he is alleged to
have known, the Japanese could have already attacked the







